FILED MAY 3 0 2013

No. 13-109576-A

CAROL G. GREEN CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

Animal Care, Inc., by and through Debra K. Anderson, D.V.M., d/b/a Westport Animal Clinic,

Plaintiff - Appellant

V.

Roger Shumaker and Shumaker Development Company, L.L.C.

Defendants – Appellees

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF SHAWNEE COUNTY, KANSAS HONORABLE FRANKLIN R. THEIS DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 10-C-844

William L. Anderson; Supreme Court #11600 4124 SW Eagle Point Road Topeka, Kansas 66610 785-608-9008 Attorney for Plaintiff – Appellant

Oral Argument: 20 minutes

No. 13-109576-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

NATURE OF THE CASE

The original petition was filed as a request by Plaintiff for a finding of adverse possession, or in the alternative, prescriptive easement in favor of Plaintiff of a strip of grass directly east of Plaintiff's Veterinary Clinic in Topeka, Kansas. ROA, Vol 1, pg 8.

The petition was amended to include tortious interference with a business because of Defendants' actions. ROA, Vol 1, pg 12.

Plaintiff filed a Motion for Summary Judgment after discovery on May 13, 2011, ROA, Vol 1, pg 95.

The District Court filed a Memorandum and Order on January 30, 2012, partially resolving the case, and ruling on the Motion for Summary Judgment for the Adverse Possession claim, but not the tortious interference claim or harassment claim. ROA. Vol 1, pg 370.

The District Court file his Supplemental Opinion and Entry of Final Judgment on Plaintiff's Motion for summary Judgment and Defendant's Motion to Dismiss on February 7, 2013, incorporating the earlier opinion of February 7, 2013 into the final judgment. ROA, Vol 1, pg

ISSUES

The District Court, Honorable Franklin R. Theis presiding, utilized the wrong standards in analyzing Plaintiff's claim of adverse possession of the real estate. This error by the Court included using opinions and statements of attorneys for the Defendant as justification for his decision, with no factual evidence to support said attorney opinions. The error also included making assumptions about the facts of the case which were not supported by the properly admitted evidence.

The District Court, Honorable Franklin R. Theis presiding, ignored evidence, wrongly interpreted laws and ordinances, and held against existing case law, in ruling against Plaintiff on the issue of harassment of Plaintiff by Defendants.

The District Court, Honorable Franklin R. Theis presiding, ignored evidence, wrongly interpreted laws and ordinances, and held against existing case law, in ruling against Plaintiff on the issue of harassment of Plaintiff by Defendants.

The District Court, Honorable Franklin R. Theis presiding, ignored evidence, wrongly interpreted laws and ordinances, and held against existing case law, in ruling against Plaintiff on the issue of harassment of Plaintiff by Defendants.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1. Debra K. Anderson has been a licensed veterinarian since 1977. On December 5, 1988, a contract was entered into with Westport Plaza Partnership for purchase of real estate located at 2800 SW Wanamaker Rd., Topeka, Kansas. The real estate purchased was Units 120 and 120B of 2800 Wanamaker Office and Commercial Complex Condominium Declaration for Lot 8 and Lot 7, except the South 150 feet thereof, in Block B of Westport Plaza Subdivision in the city of Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas. ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 108-117; Pg 118.
- 2. The part of the building that Plaintiff's veterinary medical clinic is located was chosen deliberately so that the dogs of clients that are house trained could be taken to the strip of property on the east side of the building, which is in contention at the present time. ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 118
- 3. From the time of purchase of Plaintiff's property until Defendant tore it down, a chain link fence was located on the strip of property which defined the boundaries of

the property. This fence appeared to be approximately 10 feet from the curb of the driveway. This fence remained in place until after present Defendant purchased the property to the east of Plaintiff's clinic. ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 121, 138-162

- 4. From the time of the purchase of the property by Plaintiff through the present day, Westport Plaza Partnership was responsible for and contracted individuals to perform common area maintenance for the center Plaintiff was an owner in. This common area maintenance included taking care of any landscaping on the outside of the center, including the strip of property in contention. Plaintiff and the partnership discussed running the water sprinkler system over to the east strip, but it was determined to be too expensive. ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 118
- 5. Plaintiff was required to pay common area maintenance to Westport Plaza Partnership each month, which included mowing and upkeep of all grassy areas, including the property in contention. This payment for CAM including mowing of the strip in contention continued from summer of 1988 until at least 2006. ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 118, 122-131
- 6. From the date of purchase until March 2010, Plaintiff believed that the property in contention belonged to Plaintiff and Westport Plaza Partnership. Plaintiff was not told anything to the contrary by Westport Plaza Partnership members or any other individual. ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 119
- 7. From the date of purchase until at least March 2010 or later, Plaintiff's employees, and Plaintiff's clients used the strip of property in contention to walk patients of the animal clinic, and to allow the animals to defecate and urinate on said property. ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 132-162

- 8. All clients of plaintiff's veterinary clinic considered the grass strip to belong to the clinic and a large number of the clients used the strip to walk their dogs and to allow their dogs to relieve themselves. The plaintiff solicited voluntary statements from clients concerning the use of the strip and at least 22 clients signed affidavits voluntarily of their own free will supporting the fact that plaintiff used the grass strip exclusively for her business and that there were no other individuals using the grass strip. Defendant did not present any evidence controverting these statements of open, exclusive use by plaintiff of the real estate in question. ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 132-162
- 9. The following individuals are neutral, third party witnesses to the continued and exclusive use of the real estate in question by plaintiff herein. They observed this use of the real estate by plaintiff for a period of time of at least 20 years for many of them. ROA, Vol 2, pg 132-162; Sheila McGivern pg 132, Linda Ketter, pg 133, Laura Bell. Pg 134, Scott Rogers, pg 135, Ryan Flesher, pg 136, Ginger Birtell, pg 138, Lori Durkes, pg 140, Vicky Jacobs, pg 141, Sandra Hazlett, pg 142, Lesa Roberts, pg 144, Katie Barrett, pg 145, Nancy Welch, pg 146, Ginger Barr, pg 147, Kathy Dudley, pg 148, Mary Jane Cook, pg 150, Thomas Cook, pg 152, Michael Goering, pg 154, Maggie Mahood, pg 156, Sharon Wenger, pg 158, Margaret Wittmer, pg 159, Rosemary Foreman, pg 162, Jean Copeland, pg 162
- 10. The grass strip in question was located between two office buildings, that of plaintiff's building and that of defendant's building. Because of its location, it was also visible to all the visitors to the parking lots of both buildings and the businesses across the street, one of which was Michael Goering, Doctor of Optometry. ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 118, 119, 154

- 11. There was no other individual in existence that made use of the property from 1988 until Defendant took the previously described chain link fence down, except Plaintiff in her business as a Veterinary Animal Clinic and Hospital. ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 118-119
- 12. During the time from 1988 until Kindercare moved out of the building to the east of the strip, currently owned by Defendant, the owner Kindercare was able to daily observe the actions of Plaintiff, Plaintiff's employees, and Plaintiff's clients using the strip in contention, but did not at any time complain to Plaintiff nor did Kindercare demand that Plaintiff cease use of the strip. ROA, Vol 2, pg 118-119.
- 13. Defendant turned in a complaint of zoning violation against Plaintiff to the city of Topeka. Defendant has not disputed this and supplied Plaintiff with notes confirming the occurrence of this complaint. ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 166-167
- 14. Defendant called in a complaint about noise to the city of Topeka police department against Plaintiff on three separate occasions: October 13, 2010; October 18, 2010 and October 19, 2010. Defendant has not disputed that fact and supplied Plaintiff with written documentation of each of the calls. ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 168-173
- 15. Defendant called in a complaint to the city of Topeka police department againstPlaintiff of criminal vandalism on March 11, 2011. Defendant has not disputed this.ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 174
- 16. Plaintiff's business, Westport Animal Clinic, is located on real estate zoned as"C-4." ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 177
- 17. At all times the strip of real estate in contention was the grassy strip between the buildings owned by Plaintiff and Defendant, respectively from the driveway of

Plaintiff's building up to the location of the chain link fence previously described. At the time of the pleading, the chain link fence had been removed by Defendant and it appeared that the property was 10 feet in width. Plaintiff requested the professional surveyor therefore to write a land description outlining 10 extra feet east from the survey line. A different measurement ordered by Defendant determined the actual measure of the property in contention. Plaintiff and Defendant are in agreement on the measurement of the property in contention. ROA, Vol. 2, Pg 163

- 18. Defendant did not submit any factual evidence with his Response to the Motion for Summary Judgment by Plaintiff to controvert Plaintiff's properly submitted exhibits supporting her Motion for Summary Judgment. ROA, entire Vol. 2
- 19. The first date that any Defendant or representative of Defendant demanded that Plaintiff vacate the property in question was May 12, 2010. ROA, Vol. 1, Pg 50.

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. The District Court, Honorable Franklin R. Theis presiding, utilized the wrong standards in analyzing Plaintiff's claim of adverse possession of the real estate. This error by the Court included using opinions and statements of attorneys for the Defendant as justification for his decision, with no factual evidence to support said attorney opinions. The error also included making assumptions about the facts of the case which were not supported by the properly admitted evidence.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The use of adverse possession of real estate authorized by statute has been supported by case precedent for many years. The action and authority for the taking of adverse possession is established by statutory law:

KSA 60-503. Adverse possession. No action shall be maintained against any person for the recovery of real property who has been in open, exclusive and continuous possession of such real property, either under a claim knowingly adverse or under a belief of ownership, for a period of fifteen (15) years. This section shall not

apply to any action commenced within one (1) year after the effective date of this act. **History**: L. 1963, ch 303, 60-503; Jan. 1, 1964.

KSA 58-3404. Validity of certain interests. A marketable record title shall be subject to: (c) the rights of any person arising from a period of adverse possession or user, which was in whole or in part subsequent to the effective date of the root of title.

There is also well settled case precedent for the use of summary judgment to decide cases of adverse possession of real estate.

The statute, K.S.A. 60-503, lines out two alternate pathways to demonstrate adverse possession:

"Adverse possession. No action shall be maintained against any person for the recovery of real property who has been in open, exclusive and continuous possession of such real property, either under a claim knowingly adverse or under a belief of ownership, for a period of fifteen (15) years. This section shall not apply to any action commenced within one (1) year after the effective date of this act.

History: L. 1963, ch. 303, 60-503; Jan. 1, 1964."

It is very important to notice that the statute does <u>not</u> require a belief of ownership in every circumstance. It requires possession in an open, exclusive and continuous way, <u>either</u> knowingly adverse <u>or</u> under a belief of ownership. (Emphasis added)" Wright v. Sourk. Kansas Court of Appeals, Docket No. 102,627.

In Akers v. Allaire, 17 Kan App. 2d 556 (1992), 840 P. 2d 547, ((Petition for Rev. denied October 30, 1992), a chicken wire fence separated adjoining properties but was 10 feet west of the boundary line. Defendant Allaire testified that she had acted as though the 10 feet was hers, and maintained the grass on her side of the fence. A later survey of the property that established that the fence was not the boundary line did not impeach her good faith belief of ownership. Akers, p. 558. The court upheld Allaire's adverse possession of the disputed real estate.

In the case at hand, Plaintiff Debra Anderson had a good faith belief of

ownership for 20 years. Any later survey or declaration by the Defendant would not impeach her good faith belief of ownership.

The Supreme Court of Kansas has no hesitation in concluding that under the new belief of ownership concept the legislature had in mind an element of good faith, that is, the belief must be in good faith and reasonable under all the facts and circumstances. The intention is not to punish one who neglects to assert his rights, but to protect those who have maintained the possession of land for the time specified by the statute under claim of right or color of title. *Armstrong v. Cities Service Gas Co.*, 210 Kan 298. The Kansas Supreme Court has held that the "good faith belief" is not impeachable because of constructive notice from title records or laws. In *Armstrong v. Cities Service Gas Co.*, 210 Kansas at 311, the court recognized the "well established rule that constructive notice of a defect in the title is not sufficient to impeach the good faith of claimant since he is under no duty to examine the conveyance records imparting such notice." *Buchanan v. Rediger, 26 Kan. App. 2d 59, 975 P.2d. 1235 (1999)*

If a claimant was required to conduct a title search before the claimant could have a "good faith" belief that provision of the statute would be rendered meaningless. The courts will construe statutes to avoid unreasonable results. We presume that the legislature does not intend to enact meaningless legislation. *KPERS v. Reimer & Koger Assocs.*, 262 Kan. 635, 643, 941 P.2d 1321. (1997) Plaintiff Debra Anderson was not required to search the public record for record holders, utility easements or restraints against the property.

If the record holder knows of the adverse possessor's activities on the property

in question, yet takes no action, the adverse possession is complete. "The Barretts knew of the fence line in 1963 and knew Meyer had been in possession of the land north of the fence since 1953. Yet they did not dispute the location of the true boundary until after Meyer's death in 1980. The trial court found most, if not all, the Barretts' activities north of the fence occurred after 1976 and did not act to dispossess Meyer or his successors. The record supports this finding." Barrett v. Ninnescah Bowhunter's Ass'n, 15 K.A. 2d 241, 805 P. 2d 485 (1991).

"The true (record holder) owner of property, who fails to protect rights of ownership against one holding in adverse possession and manifesting the same as required by statute and for the length of time fixed thereby, is considered as having acquiesced in the transfer of ownership." 3 Am. Jur. 2d, Adverse Possession §4, p. 96. Buchanan v. Rediger, 26 Kan. App. 2D 59, 62; 975 P.2d. 1235 (1999)

In adverse possession cases, the particular land, its condition, character, locality and appropriate use are considered. *Schaake v. McGrew, et al.*, 211 Kan, 842, 846, 508 P.2d 930 (1973). The acts of dominion necessary to establish possession must be adapted depending on the particular land, and neither cultivation nor residence, is necessary to establish actual possession. *Buchanan v. Rediger, 26 Kan. App. 2d 59*, 975 P.2d. 1235 (1999)

ANALYSIS

The District Court herein, fused the two separate parts of KSA 60-503, thereby requiring both a belief of ownership and demonstration of adverse possession to complete adverse possession.

The District Court opined that it would be impossible for the Plaintiff to hold

adversely to the other owners of the condominium of the common area property.

However, since condominium ownership ownership is a form of co-ownership, there is no reason that Plaintiff could not adversely possess common areas against the other co-owners.

In the case of *Glover v. Union Pacific R. Co.*, 187 S.W.3d 201 (Tex.App.--Texarkana 2006), the court held that ouster can be shown by long continuous possession or a change in the use or character of possession. In *Williams v. Screven Wood Company, Inc.*, 619 S.E.2d 641 (Ga. 2005), the court stated the co-tenant claiming adverse possession must show acts inconsistent with, and exclusive of, the rights of the co-tenant not in possession, and the non-possessory co-tenant must have actual *or constructive* notice of those acts. In *Williams v. Screven Wood Company, Inc.*, 619 S.E.2d 641 (Ga. 2005), the court stated the co-tenant claiming adverse possession must show acts inconsistent with, and exclusive of, the rights of the co-tenant not in possession, and the non-possessory co-tenant must have actual *or constructive* notice of those acts.

Plaintiff herein could hold adversely as to the other cotenant, since the cotenant would have knowledge or notice of the fact of the adverse possession. *Farmer's State Bank v. Lanning 162 Kan 95, 174 P. 2d 69.* Besides the obvious and adverse actions of toileting the Plaintiff's client's animals daily in an open manner across the street from the WPP office, WPP monthly sent Plaintiff invoices for the mowing of the property in contention. ROA, Vol 2, pg 122-131

"Lanning was not the first Kansas case to find that a cotenant held the property adverse to unknown cotenants. See *Vonfeldt v. Schneidewind*, 109 Kan. 265, 198 Pac.

958 (1921). See also *Sparks v. Bodensick*, 72 Kan. 5, 82 Pac. 463 (1905) (recognizing the possibility that a cotenant who is granted what appears to be the entire interest in property may hold it adverse to undisclosed cotenants). These cases are consistent with K.S.A. 60-503, which allows adverse possession based upon a good faith belief of ownership of the disputed property." Buchanan v. Rediger, 26 Kan App 64.

"Undoubtedly, one cotenant can hold a sufficiently defined portion of the common tract adversely to the others." *Adam v. Adam, 38 SW 2d 671*. 82 ALR 2d 32, \$4 "Adverse Possession – Cotenants"

"Title will vest to a tenant in common in possession against other cotenants if possession was exclusive and adverse to all tenants in common." *Schoonover v. Tyner*, 72 Kan 477, 82 ALR 2d 32, §5.

a. Open possession

There can be no argument that plaintiff's possession of the property was open. The grass strip in contention was between the buildings owned by plaintiff and defendant's predecessor. The activity occurred immediately next to a city street and on the side of a shopping center set up which contained more from 7-8 businesses. It was within eyesight of the business owned by a partner of Westport Plaza Partnership, Robert J. Munk. The activities of walking animals to relieve themselves occurred during daily hours 7 days a week, 52 weeks a year for 20 years. Clients of plaintiff's veterinary clinic were well aware of the practice, knowing that they were also allowed to use the grass strip, as clients of plaintiff. The title owners of the property were well aware of the plaintiff's activities, often being outside with the day care children when plaintiff's employees were walking the animals.

"To constitute adverse possession of land, it is not absolutely necessary that there be enclosures, buildings, or cultivation on the disputed property, but the acts done must be such as to give unequivocal notice of the claim to the land, adverse to the claims of all others, and must be of such a character and so openly done that the real owner will be presumed to know that a possession adverse to his title has been taken." Wright v. Sourk, Kansas Court of Appeals, DOCKET NUMBER: No. 102,627, Syl 9.

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