#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

ANIMAL CARE, INC.
Plaintiff - Appellant

FILED
JUN 21 2013

v.

CARGL G. GREEN CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

ROGER SHUMAKER
and
SHUMAKER DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, L.L.C.
Defendants - Appellees

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF SHAWNEE COUNTY, KANSAS THE HONORABLE FRANKLIN R. THEIS DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 10 C 844

> Robert S. Redler #20270 Law Office of Robert S. Redler PO Box 26 511 W. Bertrand St. Marys, KS 66536 785-437-3250 785-437-3518 (fax) bobredler@gmail.com Attorney for Defendants / Appellees Roger Shumaker; and Shumaker Development Company, L.L.C.

#

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

## [5] ULTIMATE FAILURE OF ARGUMENT

In addition to a failure to meet the previously discussed requisites for a hostile, knowingly adverse claim, there is an ironic twist applicable to this case alone.

According to Debra Anderson, she believed that she owned the grassy strip. Therefore, for Animal Care, Inc. to claim a bad faith intent to acquire property from the owner, the Court must accept the proposition that the corporation's intent, for more than fifteen years, was to acquire the property in a knowingly adversely manner against the one owner it claims it knew: Debra Anderson, or more expansively, its landlord: a partnership made up of its owner and the attorney representing it in this case.

Wrestling with such an extreme position is not necessary, however, since an affidavit concerning Animal Care, Inc.'s intent was never offered, and the Plaintiff failed to provide any other evidence of intent.

### [D] EXCLUSIVE POSSESSION

As a necessary element to adverse possession, the Plaintiff's own evidence defeats the argument that it had exclusive possession of the grassy strip:

In *Crone v. Nuss*, 263 P.3d 809, 815, 46 Kan.App.2d 436, 442 (Kan.App. 2011), this Court explained:

"K.S.A. 60-503 requires that the adverse holder's possession of the property be exclusive. '[T]he requisite of exclusive possession for acquisition of title by adverse possession is not satisfied if occupancy is shared by the owner or with agents or tenants of the owner.' 3 Am.Jur.2d, Adverse Possession § 71, p. 146."

Applying *Crone v. Nuss* to this case, neither Debra Anderson nor the Anderson Partnership can claim exclusive possession since possession "is shared" with a tenant, Animal Care, Inc. More important, however, is that Animal Care, Inc., the tenant, is the

Plaintiff; and as a tenant, it cannot claim exclusive possession when its occupancy is subordinate, in the use of all property believed to be common area, to the rights of its landlord, and the will of its landlord to extend its lease (or grant of permission).

In addition, all common area was shared with: every other tenant of the shopping center; Westport Plaza Partnership which held title to the common areas; and the public which visited the shopping center.

Even if the Anderson Partnership held a shared *ownership interest* in the common areas, and not simply a shared *use interest*, then under the "Apartment Ownership Act" (K.S.A. 58-3101 et. seq.) which governs condominiums, common areas can never be treated as exclusive to one owner, either in usage or legal division. As stated in K.S.A. 58-3106:

- (c) The common areas and facilities shall remain undivided and no apartment owner or any other person shall bring any action for partition or division of any part thereof . . .. Any covenant to the contrary shall be null and void.
- (d) Each apartment owner may use the common areas and facilities in accordance with the purpose for which they were intended without hindering or encroaching upon the lawful rights of the other apartment owners.

Beyond statutory mandates, and with respect to the grassy strip up to the fence (i.e. the Defendant's property), the Plaintiff admitted that Westport Plaza Partnership continually mowed, watered, fertilized, trimmed, planted grass, and maintained the entire strip. (Amended Petition, para. 8, ROA v.1 pg. 14, also see page 1, fifth paragraph of Debra Anderson's affidavit, ROA v.2 pg. 118)

The public also used the grassy strip as a cut-through to a store behind the shopping center. (Affidavit of Roger Shumaker, pg. 3, ROA v.3 pg. 219) In this regard, despite the Defendant's observations, Debra Anderson asserted that the Plaintiff alone used the property.

Since this assertion, however, would require continual surveillance, and affirmative evidence of facts which support the conclusion, neither of which has been provided, the statement is unsupported conjecture. As stated in *Estate of Belden v. Brown County*, 261 P.3d 943, 46 Kan.App.2d 247 (Kan.App. 2011), it is both "contrary to K.S.A. 60-256(e) and nonsensical" to rely upon an affidavit to defeat a motion for summary judgment by relying upon opinion evidence which would be inadmissible at trial.

Perhaps more significant than use by the public and control by Westport Plaza Partnership, was the continual intervening use by customers of Animal Care, Inc. who routinely walked their dogs on the strip either before or after visiting the Plaintiff's facility. This was attested by both Debra Anderson in the affidavit she provided with the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, plus eight separate affidavits the Plaintiff provided from its customers. (See paragraph 45(e) of the Statement of Facts above, and specifically ROA v.2 pg. 119 para. 1; and ROA v.2 pgs. 134, 139, 144, 150, 152, 158 and 133)

Had customers walked their dogs: at the direction of Animal Care, Inc.; as its business invitees or guests; or even at the prompting of a sign on the strip erected by Animal Care, Inc. offering the strip as a walk for its customers, then it may be argued that use by such people was use by the Plaintiff. But no affidavit suggested any of these conditions existed. Instead, the reasonable presumption, without any contrary evidence, was that these numerous customers noticed a strip of grass and simply brought their dogs to it. The Plaintiff's fractional use rights, customers, plus availability for use by the public and other tenants and Westport Plaza Associates, nullifies any claim of exclusivity.

At this point, Plaintiff's argument that it can gain adverse possession against coowners may be addressed. The argument is important since the Plaintiff cannot otherwise claim exclusive possession with only a 21.2% shared use interest in common areas. The argument fails, however, for multiple reasons: [1] the Apartment Owners Act, as cited above, precludes one condominium co-owner from such claims against another; [2] in each case quoted by the Plaintiff, the co-owner was required to show acts inconsistent with, and exclusive of the rights of the other co-tenants, which was not done here; [3] Animal Care, Inc. had neither exclusive possession nor control as against other condominium owners, including Westport Plaza Partnership which maintained control and care over the property as earlier reviewed; [4] whosoever may be categorized as the Plaintiff, interest in the common areas was a use interest, not a co-ownership interest; and [5] key to the argument: Animal Care, Inc. was not a co-owner, it was only a permissive user.

Now returning to the consensual use of the property discussed under previous sections, it is next important to note the obvious: a party with consent to use property, cannot possess it exclusively, since its possession is subordinate to the owner granting consent.

Ultimately, even if Animal Care, Inc. had exclusive possession of the property, it would not matter since Debra Anderson was the one who claimed a belief in ownership of the property. That is, one person/entity claimed ownership and another claimed possession. This dichotomy appears to be the reason the Plaintiff treated itself and Debra Anderson as one. The same party must both believe in ownership (or hold the property knowingly adverse to the owner) and in addition, have exclusive possession, which was not the case here.

# [E] EMPHASIS ON DIFFERENT FACTS, NOT NEW ISSUES

It is anticipated the Plaintiff will assert that, in the District Court, the Defendants did not argue: the Plaintiff was Animal Care, Inc., not Debra Anderson, not the Anderson Partnership; or that the three should not be depicted as one. Now treating Animal Care, Inc.

as a distinct entity from the others, the Plaintiff will say, is a new legal theory, and new legal theories are not allowed on appeal.

The Plaintiff is accurate that its pattern of interweaving players, as detailed in Statement of Fact 24 above, sufficiently managed to evade isolation of Animal Care, Inc. by both the attorney representing the Defendants at that time, and the Honorable Franklin R. Theis. But it is not accurate to say either: the matter was not before the Court; or it involved a new legal theory.

Arguing a new legal theory is different from the case here: arguing facts in the record, which were not previously highlighted, but which support the judgment. This is particularly true when all those facts were provided by the Plaintiff as evidence to support its motion.

The validity of citing facts not previously highlighted may be recognized with a simple hypothetical: The Plaintiff places five documents into a Judge's hands with the request that they be accepted to prove it is entitled to summary judgment on the issue of belief in ownership of land. The Defendants then point to the first two of those documents as proof the Defendants, not the Plaintiff, are entitled to summary judgment. The Judge agrees with the Defendants. On appeal, the Defendants explain that, in reality, each of the five documents handed to the Judge by the Plaintiff prove the Plaintiff did not have a reasonable belief in ownership. No new legal theories are presented; the same theory of belief in ownership is consistent. The Defendants simply pointed to all the evidence, not just some evidence handed to the Judge by the Plaintiff, and this Court's "review is unlimited" (Golden v. Den-Mat Corp., 276 P.3d 773, 784, 47 Kan.App.2d 450, 460 (Kan.App. 2012)).

Specifically in this case, as reviewed above, the Plaintiff announced that it is a corporation "owned" by Debra Anderson. The Defendants now simply point out that the

Animal Care, Inc., not its owner-shareholder, is the Plaintiff and the two are distinct. This is neither new evidence nor a new legal theory.

The Plaintiff further submitted documents showing that the condominium was purchased by Debra Anderson and William L. Anderson as co-owners or partners. The Defendants now simply point out that the condominium owner is not Animal Care, Inc. Again, there is no new legal theory.

As to legal theories, no new theories have been introduced. In the District Court, the Defendants argued that the Plaintiff had the burden to prove all elements of adverse possession, but did not prove a good faith belief in ownership, did not prove knowingly adverse possession (including by reason of admitted consent to use), and did not prove exclusive possession. These were the legal theories presented to and reviewed by the District Court, and the same theories presented here. Yet even if this brief is construed as raising new legal theories there are applicable exceptions to the general rule:

"Generally, parties may not raise a new legal theory for the first time on appeal. *Jarboe v. Board of Sedgwick County Comm'rs*, 262 Kan. 615, 622, 938 P.2d 1293 (1997). In *Jarboe*, this court recognized three exceptions to the general rule:

- "(1) Cases where the newly asserted theory involves only a question of law arising on proved or admitted facts and which is finally determinative of the case;
- "(2) Questions raised for the first time on appeal if consideration of the same is necessary to serve the ends of justice or to prevent denial of fundamental rights; and
- "(3) That a judgment of a trial court may be upheld on appeal even though that court may have relied on the wrong ground or assigned a wrong reason for its decision." [Citation omitted.]" 262 Kan. at 622-23, 938 P.2d 1293"

Cole v. Mayans, 80 P.3d 384, 391, 276 Kan. 866, 873 (Kan. 2003). Also see Iron Horse Auto, Inc. v. Lititz Mut. Ins. Co., 156 P.3d 1221, 1229, 283 Kan. 834, 845 (Kan. 2007)

Each of the above exceptions apply in this case, and can easily be demonstrated. When the Plaintiff spoke of: the property purchased "by Plaintiff;" the building owned by the Plaintiff; that "Plaintiff Debra Anderson" was in exclusive possession; "my property;" and "Plaintiff believed," all as cited in Statement of Fact number 24 above, then the Plaintiff was either being deceptive to the Court or speaking in expansive tones, really meaning: the building was owned by Debra Anderson's partnership; she, not Animal Care, Inc., had a belief in ownership; and Animal Care, Inc. occupied the property as a tenant by permission.

If the Plaintiff was being deceptive, then allowing a new theory will: "serve the ends of justice;" meet the other criteria for exceptions; support the grant of legal fees for this appeal under Supreme Court Rule 7.07(c); and be treated as a lack of candor to the Court and deceit under KRPC 303, 226(c) and 226(d), respectively. On the other hand, if the Plaintiff was just speaking expansively, and really meant that the building was owned by one entity, occupied by another, and a belief in ownership was by a partner, not a tenant, then the Plaintiff cannot complain of new theories, for this is what the Plaintiff was trying to express.

ISSUE II. The Claim of Intentional Interference with Business Relationships, Unsupported by Evidence of Necessary Elements for Such Tort

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Since summary judgment was granted to the Defendant in District Court on all issues, the standard of review is the same as recited under the first issue reviewed above.

### **ANALYSIS**

Count III of the Amended Petition (at ROA v.1 pgs. 12-16), captioned "Tortious Interference With a Business Relationship," set forth the Plaintiffs tort claim as:

- 13. The Defendant, Roger Shumaker has engaged in intentional acts meant to interfere with the prospective and on going business relationships of the Plaintiff by harassing and terrorizing the clients of the Plaintiff.
- 14. Among the conduct of the Defendant Roger Shumaker has engaged in, on or about June 24, 2010 the Defendant Roger Shumaker took a photograph of one of the clients of the Plaintiff while that client was entering the Plaintiff's place of business and yelled to the client to "smile" while he was taking the photograph.

Thereafter, the Plaintiff filed a motion to amend its Amended Petition to add a nebulous harassment claim based upon actions after suit was filed. (ROA v.1 pgs. 77-79) Yet before the motion to amend was decided, the Plaintiff filed its Motion for Summary Judgment.

The District Court then decided to split its ruling on the Motion for Summary Judgment to postpone a decision on the tort claim until a new Amended Petition was filed to add a new claim. The Plaintiff was granted twenty-one days to file an Amended Petition. (Memorandum Opinion, ROA v.4 at pgs. 356-357). No action was taken within the specified time parameter, and a renewed motion to amend (coupled with a motion to amend or vacate the Memorandum Order) was filed the following month. This motion was definitive about the nature of its request:

"5. Plaintiff seeks leave to amend its claims in Counts III and IV, to more particularly state claims for the intentional torts of Outrage (Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress) and Trespass."

During a hearing which followed the motion, the Plaintiff was given ten days to file an Amended Petition and told that a new Summary Judgment motion should thereafter be filed to encompass new actions to be alleged. (ROA v.6 pgs. 26-27). This directive was then consolidated into a Journal Entry which read, in part (at ROA v.4 pg. 368):

- "2. Plaintiff's motion for Leave to Amend the Petition as to Counts III and IV of the amended petition is sustained.
- 3. Plaintiff shall serve upon Defendant Plaintiff's amended petition on or before May 16, 2012.

5. Plaintiff shall file on or before July 2, 2012, a new summary judgment motion discussing Counts III and IV"

Leave to amend was then declined by letter to the Court (ROA v.5 pg. 3) which read, in part:

"At the conclusion of the hearing on May 11, 2012, you directed that I amend the Plaintiff's Petition to re-state Counts III and IV, as requested in my motion and that an amended Summary Judgment Motion be filed by July 1, 2012, relative to those counts.

My client's [sic] have asked, instead, that the Court simply rule on the Summary Judgment/Dismissal motions and resolve all the still-pending issues, and at that point enter a final judgment in the matter."

Therefore, the Plaintiff has waived all tort claims which were not included within its Amended Petition. Yet, just as the Plaintiff's adverse possession claim shifted focus from Animal Care, Inc. to Debra Anderson, its tort claim shifted from intentional interference with business relationships, to a non-pleaded claim based upon a tort which does not exist.

### [A] INTENTIONAL INTERFERENCE WITH BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS

The one specific tort claim pleaded by the Plaintiff was intentional interference with present or prospective business relationships, which has five specific requirements:

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